### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION

**APPELLANT** 

v.

CAUSE NO. 2008-SA-02066

**EDWARD SIMON** 

**APPELLEE** 

# MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION'S APPEAL FROM FINAL DECISION OF THE TUNICA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT FINDING COMMISSION'S DENIAL OF A WORK PERMIT TO EDWARD SIMON ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

# ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI and

MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION

BY: JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS H. MUELLER, SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEANNE B. SALTZMAN,
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OF COUNSEL:
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
Post Office Box 23577

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. WHETHER THE TUNICA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION'S DENIAL OF EDWARD SIMON'S WORK PERMIT APPLICATION WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT MISS. CODE ANN. § 75-76-131(5) DOES NOT REQUIRE A FORMAL CONVICTION AND THAT COMMISSION OF A FELONY CAN BE SHOWN THROUGH ENTRY OF A GUILTY PLEA.

## STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant, Mississippi Gaming Commission, submits that the facts of this case are clear, and the issues on appeal are neither complex nor unique. Accordingly, Appellant does not believe oral argument is necessary.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 25, 1998, Edward Simon [hereafter "Simon"] entered a plea of guilty in the Circuit Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi, to a felony charge of possession of marijuana more than one ounce but less than one kilogram. [Commission ROR Exhibits, pgs. 28-30]. At the time Simon entered his guilty plea, he was employed as box person for Sam's Town Casino in Robinsonville, Mississippi. Shortly thereafter, on March 28, 1998, Simon submitted an application for renewal of his gaming work permit. On that application, Simon disclosed that he was on non-adjudicated probation in DeSoto County, Mississippi, for the drug possession charge. As a result, Simon's application for a work permit was denied by the Executive Director for two reasons: (1) commission of a crime which is a felony in Mississippi; and (2) being in the constructive custody of law enforcement. [Commission ROR Exhibits pgs. 49-50]; see Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-131(5).

Simon appealed the Executive Director's denial and a hearing was held before Hearing Examiner Larry Stroud. On June 15, 1998, the Hearing Examiner issued an opinion affirming the Executive Director's denial but citing only the constructive custody status as the basis for his decision.<sup>1</sup> [Commission ROR Exhibits pgs. 68-69]. On July 16, 1998, at its regular monthly meeting, the Commission declined review of the Hearing

Although both commission of a felony and constructive custody grounds were alleged by the Executive Director for denial of Simon's work permit in 1998, the Hearing Examiner only addressed the constructive custody ground in his written decision.

Examiner's decision, thereby making the Hearing Examiner's decision the final decision of the Commission. Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-131(6).

After Simon completed the terms of his non-adjudicated probation, an Order was entered by the Circuit Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi, terminating Simon's probationary period. [Commission ROR Exhibits pgs. 26-27 and 32-33]. In 1998, Simon submitted another application for a work permit and, for reasons unknown, the Commission unanimously approved the issuance of a work permit to Simon.<sup>2</sup> Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-137(3). Simon's work permit was renewed in 2000 and again in 2003. Although Simon did not disclose information relating to his 1997 felony commission on his 2000 application and answered falsely to questions regarding having previously been denied a permit by the Commission [Commission ROR Exhibits, pgs. 45-47], Simon did disclose the felony charge on his 2003 application [Commission ROR Exhibits, pgs. 42-44].

On November 16, 2006, Simon again submitted an application to the Mississippi Gaming Commission seeking renewal of his gaming work permit. On that application, Simon disclosed his 1997 charge and non-adjudication for felony possession of marijuana. [Commission ROR Exhibits, pgs. 7-11]. On March 30, 2007, the Executive Director of the Commission denied Simon's work permit application on the ground that Simon had previously committed a felony offense. [Commission ROR Exhibits, pgs.4-5]. Simon

Miss. Code Annotated § 75-76-137(3) provides that "[a] work permit shall not be issued to ... a person to whom the issuance or renewal of a work permit has been denied, except with the unanimous approval of the commission members."

appealed that denial and a hearing took place before Hearing Examiner Joan Myers. On July 31, 2007, the Hearing Examiner issued an opinion affirming the Executive Director's denial of Simon's work permit. [Commission ROR, pgs. 00008-000015]. In that decision, the Hearing Examiner ruled, in relevant part, as follows:

In the present case, Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-131(5) prohibits the issuance of a gaming work permit to [Simon]. The issuances of a work permit to [Simon] in 1998, 2000, and 2003 were in contravention of Section 76-76-131(5) and hence were unauthorized acts. Without a doubt, the consequences of Section 75-76-131(5) are harsh in this case. Nevertheless, the hearing examiner is of the opinion that the Commission has no discretion in this matter. [Simon] committed a crime which is a felony in the State of Mississippi, and under the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-131(5), the Executive Director is precluded from issuing him a gaming work permit. Therefore, the decision of the Executive Director denying [Simon's] work permit was correct, and is hereby affirmed.

[Commission ROR, pgs. 00007-0008]. Thereafter, the full Commission, at its regularly monthly meeting on September 20, 2007, adopted the decision of the Hearing Examiner, making the Hearing Examiner's decision the final decision of the Commission. [Commission ROR, pgs. 000024-000025].

On October 8, 2007, Simon filed a Petition for Judicial Review of the Commission's decision in the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Mississippi. [Circuit Record, pgs. 004-008]. After briefs were submitted by both parties [Circuit Record, pgs. 25-39 and Brief of Appellee (bounded separately)], oral arguments were heard before Judge Albert Smith on October 20, 2008. [Circuit Transcript]. Shortly thereafter, the Tunica County Circuit Court issued an Order reversing the decision of the Commission, finding the decision of the

Commission to be arbitrary and capricious. [Circuit Record, pgs. 053-055]. It is from this Order, the Commission now appeals.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Commission respectfully requests this Court reverse the Order entered by the Tunica County Circuit Court finding the Commission's decision to deny the work permit of Edward Simon to be arbitrary and capricious. The specific statutory section at issue is Mississippi Code Annotated 75-76-131(5), which provides that, "the executive director *shall refuse to issue a work permit* if the applicant has committed, attempted or conspired to commit a crime which is a felony in this state or an offense in another state or jurisdiction which would be a felony if committed in this state." (emphasis added).

In September of 2007, the Commission denied the work permit application of Edward Simon based upon Simon's commission of a felony offense in 1997. Although the Circuit Court did not take issue with the applicable statutory or case law provided as the basis for the Commission's decision, it nonetheless found the Commission's denial decision to be arbitrary and capricious because the Commission had previously granted Simon a work permit after learning about the felony offense. While the Commission admits that it erred in issuing Simon work permits after he entered a plea of guilty to a felony offense, the Commission nonetheless cannot perpetuate that wrongdoing by acting in contravention to statutory authority.

The denial is not arbitrary or capricious. The final decision of the Commission violated no constitutional provisions, was supported by "any" evidence, and was lawfully

made pursuant to statutory authority. Thus, the decision of the Tunica County Circuit Court must be reversed.

# **ARGUMENT**

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 75-76-127, the exclusive method for reviewing the actions of the Mississippi Gaming Commission is through Circuit and Supreme Court review as provided by the Mississippi Gaming Control Act. See *Pickle v*. *IGT*, 830 So.2d 1214, 1219 (¶ 1)(Miss. 2002). A strict standard governs judicial review of administrative agency decisions:

Our constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry *de novo* matters on appeal from administrative agencies. Our courts are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required fo them by law. When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one ... since the courts cannot enter the field of administrative agency.

American Legion Post #134 v. Mississippi Gaming Comm'n, 798 So.2d 445, 449 (¶ 24) (Miss. 2001) (quoting Cook v. Mardi Gras Casino Corp., 697 So.2d 378, 380 (Miss. 1997)). The standard of review for such appeals is determined by the Gaming Control Act. Mississippi Gaming Comm'n v. Freeman, 747 So.2d 231, 240 (¶ 40) (Miss. 1999). This standard of review is outlined as follows:

The reviewing court may affirm the decision and order of the commission, or it may remand the case for further proceedings or reverse the decision if the substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the decision is:

- (a) In violation of constitutional provisions;
- (b) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the commission;
- (c) Made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) Unsupported by any evidence; or
- (e) Arbitrary or capricious or otherwise not in accordance with law.

Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-125(3)(a)-(e)(emphasis added). "While administrative agency decisions are afforded great deference, that deference is enhanced when that administrative agency is the Mississippi Gaming Commission." Mississippi Gaming Comm'n v. Pennebaker, 824 So.2d 552, 555-556 (¶ 10)(Miss. 2002). "The Gaming Commission decision will not be disturbed if it is supported by 'any' evidence." Pennebaker, 824 So.2d at 556; see also Freeman, 747 So.2d at 239 (¶ 42)(emphasis added). "In Nevada, which employs the identical statutory standard of review, the Nevada Supreme Court held that a 'reviewing court should affirm a decision of the Board which is supported by any evidence whatsoever, even if that evidence is less than that which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.'" Pickle, 830 So.2d at 1220 (¶ 12)(citing Singel v. IGT, 116 Nev. 565, 2 P.3d 258, 261 (2000)(emphasis in original)(citations omitted).

In Mississippi, our Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that it "affords great deference to an administrative agency in interpreting its own regulations." *Mississippi Gaming Comm'n v Board of Educ.*, 691 So.2d 452, 455 (Miss. 1997)(citing *Casino Magic Corp. v. Ladner*, 666 So. 2d 452, 463 (Miss. 1985); *Mississippi Dep't of Envtl. Quality v. Weems*, 653 So. 2d 266, 273 (Miss. 1995). As such, "[w]hen a reviewing agency interprets a statute it is responsible for administering, [the reviewing court] must defer to the agency's

interpretation so long as the interpretation is reasonable." *Parkerson v. Smith*, 817 So.2d 529, 534 (Miss. 2002)(citing *Chevron USA Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc.*, 467 U.S. 837, 843; 104 S.Ct. 2778, 2782; 81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984)).

I. WHETHER THE TUNICA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION'S DENIAL OF EDWARD SIMON'S WORK PERMIT APPLICATION WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

In its Order filed on November 6, 2008, the Tunica County Circuit Court found as follows:

As for [Simon's] argument that the Commission overstepped its statutory authority by denying his work permit in the absence of a felony conviction, the Court finds this argument to be without merit. Under the prevailing law, it is the opinion of this Court that the Commission has the authority to deny a person a gaming badge if they commit a felony crime. There is no requirement in the statute that a person have an actual conviction. For the same reason, there is also no merit to the argument that the Commission somehow violated the terms of the DeSoto County Circuit Court order which dismissed the charges against Appellant.

[Circuit Record, pg. 054 (¶ 3)](emphasis added). Despite ruling that the Commission had **not** violated statutory authority and applicable law, the Circuit Court nonetheless found the actions of the Commission to be arbitrary and capricious and in support thereof held, in relevant part, as follows:

[Simon's] argument that does have merit is the contention that the Commission's action was arbitrary and capricious. When the Commission became aware of the Appellant's charge in 1997, it made the decision to suspend [Simon's] work permit until such time as he was released from probation. Once [Simon] had successfully completed his probation and had

the charges against him dismissed, the Commission again made the decision to reinstate his work permit and again renew it in 2002.

This is not a case where the Commission is claiming that it only recently discovered [Simon's] run in with the law; the Commission had all of the pertinent facts before it in 1997 when it chose to take the its (sic) disciplinary action. It had the opportunity then to deny [Simon's] work permit unequivocally. It chose not to. Once [Simon] finished his probationary period and reapplied for his work permit, the Commission again had the discretion to deny his request. It chose not to. In 2002 when [Simon's] work permit came up for renewal, the Commission again had the discretion to deny his request. It chose not to.

While the Commission would have been justified in denying [Simon] a work permit in 1997 when he first entered a plea of guilty to a felony crime, to wait some ten years later to do so is arbitrary and capricious.

[Circuit Record, pgs. 054-055].<sup>3</sup> Although the Commission admits that it was aware of Simon's felony offense in 1997 and that it erred by issuing renewal permits after that date, the action of the Commission in correcting its mistake is neither arbitrary or capricious.<sup>4</sup>

"An administrative agency's decision is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone." *American Legion Post #134*, 798 So.2d at 450 (¶26)(citations omitted). Similarly, "an action is capricious if done without

For clarification purposes, although 2002 is referenced as a renewal year in the Court's Order, Simon's work permit was actually renewed in 2000 and 2003.

The Commission wishes to respectfully point out that several Mississippi cases have been handed down since 1998 that have clarified the law and provided the Commission with additional guidance in how to handle issues relating to a defendant's entry of a guilty plea to felonious conduct despite the charge being non-adjudicated and expunged. See *Board on Law Enforcement Officer Standards and Training v. Rushing*, 752 So. 2d 1085, 1091 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), cert. denied (2000). See also *Mississippi Bar v. Shelton*, 890 So. 2d 827 (Miss. 2003); *Mississippi Bar v. Baldwin*, 752 So. 2d 996 (Miss. 1999).

reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." *Id.* The Mississippi Supreme Court has further held that, "'fairly debatable' is the antithesis of arbitrary and capricious. If a decision is one which could be considered 'fairly debatable', then it could not be considered arbitrary or capricious." *Pennebaker*, 824 So.2d at 556 (¶ 12)(citing *City of Biloxi v. Hilbert*, 597 So. 2d 1276, 1280-1281 (Miss. 1992)). In other words, an action "is arbitrary or capricious if the agency entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, or offered an explanation for its decision that runs counter to the evidence before the agency or is so implausible that it could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of agency expertise." *Sierra Club v. Miss. Environmental Quality Permit Board*, 943 So.2d 673, 678 (¶ 11)(Miss. 2006)(citations omitted).

Again, the relevant portion of the Gaming Control Act at issue in this case is Mississippi Code Annotated 75-76-131(5) which provides as follows:

The executive director **shall refuse to issue a work permit** if the applicant has committed, attempted or conspired to commit a crime which is a felony in this state or an offense in another state or jurisdiction which would be a felony if committed in this state.

(Emphasis added). In *Conway v. Mississippi State Board of Health*, 173 So. 2d 412, 415 (Miss. 1965), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

No principle is more firmly established, or rests on more secure foundations, than the rule which declares when a law is plain and unambiguous, whether it be expressed in general or limited terms, that the Legislature shall be deemed to have intended to mean what they have plainly expressed, and, consequently, no room is left for construction in the application of such a law.

See also *City of Natchez, Mississippi v. Sullivan*, 612 So. 2d 1087, 1089 (Miss. 1992). As stated by Mississippi Supreme Court in *Miss. Ethics Comm'n v. Graham*, 957 So.2d 997, 1001-1002 (¶ 12)(Miss. 2007):

When the language used by the legislature is plain and unambiguous ... and where the statute conveys a clear and definite meaning ... the Court will have no occasion to resort to the rules of statutory interpretation. Instead, courts have a duty to give statutes a practical application consistent with their wording, unless such application is inconsistent with the obvious intent of the legislature. While we have accepted an obligation of deference to agency interpretation and practice in areas of administration by law committed to their responsibility ... it has no material force where agency action is contrary to statutory language.

(citations omitted)(emphasis in original).

In reversing the Commission's decision, the Circuit Court found it to be arbitrary and capricious. Nonetheless, there was no finding by the Circuit Court that the Commission violated the Constitution, exceeded its statutory authority or jurisdiction, or performed an unlawful procedure. To the contrary, the Circuit Court ruled that the Commission acted within its statutory authority. "Given the deference we give to agencies in interpreting their own regulations, an agency can hardly be charged with acting arbitrarily or with caprice or whimsy when it has made a decision that is consistent with its own published polices and regulations." *Miss. Gaming Comm'n.*, 691 So. 2d at 459. There is simply no indication in the record that the decision of the Commission was done without reason or judgment or done in a whimsical manner.

It has been and remains the position of the Commission, pursuant to the language of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-131(5), that it has absolutely no discretion or authority to issue work permits to individuals who have attempted, conspired or committed felony offenses. Though the Circuit Court ruling finds that the Commission acted arbitrarily because it failed to utilize its discretion on previous occasions to deny the work permit of Simon, it remains the position of the Commission that it never had discretion to grant Simon a work permit. The Commission has long since interpreted Miss. Code Ann. §75-76-131(5) and Miss. Gaming Regulation II. J. Section 2.(d)(1) to be that it is statutorily prohibited from issuing work permits to those individuals that have previously committed felony offenses. While the Commission admits that it erred in granting Simon work permits on previous occasions and acknowledges that the resulting denial seems unfair, the Commission simply cannot perpetuate its error and continue issuing Simon a work permit in contravention to statutory authority. If anything, the opposite would be true ... issuing Simon a work permit in contravention to the plain language of Section 75-76-131(5) would be per se arbitrary and capricious because the Commission would be violating express legislative policy. See County of Monmouth v. Dept. of Corrections, 566 A.2d 543, 544 (N.J. 1989) (holding "action by State agency in contravention of State statutes and its own regulations is per se arbitrary and capricious because it violates express or implied legislative policy.")(citations omitted).

In effect, the Court finds that the Commission is acting arbitrarily because it is attempting to correct mistakes made in the past. While the Circuit Court does not mention

or reference the principle of estoppel, the Circuit Court's ruling operates upon an estoppel principle. The Circuit Court's ruling could be interpreted to find that because the Commission erred in granting work permits to Simon in the past that it is now estopped or prevented from denying Simon a work permit, despite the fact that the Commission is acting within the confines of the law by issuing the denial. The issuances of a work permit to Appellant in 2000 and 2003 were in contravention of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-131(5) and thus were unauthorized acts. "It is a 'well-established rule in Mississippi that the doctrine of equitable estoppel cannot be applied against the state or its counties where the acts of their officers were unauthorized." Rawls Springs Utility District v. Novak, 765 So. 2d 1288, 1292 (Miss. 2000), quoting Oktibbeha County Board of Education v. Town of Sturgis, Mississippi, 531 So. 2d 585, 589 (Miss. 1988); see Morrow v. Vinson, 666 So. 2d 802, 804 (Miss. 1995). The fact that Simon was issued work permits in the past, in contravention of law, does not entitle him to the issuance of future work permits. "Officers of the state ... have no power to authorize the *continuance* of any act or business which is in violation of law .... ." Eastman Oil Mills v. State, 130 Miss. 63, 93 So. 484, 486 (1922) (Emphasis added).

In *Conway*, the Mississippi State Board of Health sought to enjoin Conway from engaging in the practice of medicine until he received a new license from the State Board

In *Eicher v. Louisiana State Police, Riverboat Gaming Enforcement Division*, the Louisiana Court of Appeals, First Circuit, held that the Louisiana State Police, Riverboat Gaming Enforcement Division, was not estopped to deny a work permit to Ms. Eicher based on her criminal history, even though the Division, having knowledge of her criminal history, had issued her a temporary permit shortly before.

of Health. Conway at 413. As part of his argument on appeal, Conway asserted that the State Board of Health was estopped from challenging the validity of his license since Conway relied on two letters sent to him by the Board and was not directed to the latter portion of the statute relating to recordation. Id. at 415. The Mississippi Supreme Court rejected this argument finding that "a departmental ruling cannot make a statute mean one thing when on its face it plainly means another thing." Id. (citations omitted)(emphasis added). The Court additionally held "the letters by the Secretary of the State Board of Health could not have the effect of altering the statute and it is not estopped thereby from pursuing the other duties imposed upon it (citation omitted) in regard to the granting of licenses for the practice of medicine and the regulation thereof within this state." Id. The same is true of the Mississippi Gaming Commission. A previous error by the Commission does not allow the Commission to now disregard statutory mandates set forth by our legislature. To allow Simon to prevail on this estoppel argument would afford Simon and all other individuals who have committed felony offenses rights in contravention of clear and unambiguous statutory mandates.

As so clearly held in *Conway*, prior decisions of state agencies made in error cannot serve to obliterate the clear meaning of the statute. Borrowing from the distinct language of the Supreme Court of Ohio:

The board cannot be estopped from its duty to protect the public welfare because it did not bring a disciplinary action as expeditiously as possible. (citations omitted). If a government agency is not permitted to enforce the

law because the conduct of its agents has given rise to estoppel, the interest of all citizens in obedience to the rule of law is undermined.

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