IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE No. 2008-SA-02066

EDWARD SIMON

APPELLEE

---

MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION'S APPEAL FROM  
FINAL DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF  
TUNICA COUNTY FINDING THE COMMISSION'S DENIAL OF  
A WORK PERMIT TO EDWARD SIMON TO BE  
ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

**\*ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

BY: ROBERT S. (STAN) LITTLE, JR.  
POST OFFICE BOX 5  
TUNICA, MISSISSIPPI 38676  
(662) 363-1161  
(662) 363-1184 telefax  
*Counsel for Edward Simon*

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE No. 2008-SA-02066

EDWARD SIMON

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION'S DENIAL OF EDWARD SIMON'S WORK PERMIT WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Your Appellee, Edward Simon, submits that this is a unique case in which the outcome may have lasting and substantial effects upon all employees of the gaming industry in Mississippi and which may thereby set a precedent establishing the breadth of power afforded to the Mississippi Gaming Commission and the standards under which it operates. As such, your Appellee believes that oral arguments would assist in clarifying the issue before the Court and the potential repercussions of its decision. Oral arguments are, therefore, requested.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In the interest of judicial convenience and brevity, and finding no need to restate the facts in a light any more beneficial to the himself, your Appellee concurs with the statement of the Appellant in all respects, save that he would supplement the Attorney General's summary of the procedural posture to note that the Appellant's *Motion for Stay* was denied by both the lower court and the Court of Appeals for "mak[ing] no adequate showing of irreparable harm or likelihood of success on the merits [Record Excerpts 4,5].

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Edward Simon has worked in the casino industry in Mississippi virtually since its inception. Indeed, he continues to work there to this day. The Mississippi Gaming Commission would argue to this Court that it has a right, by virtue of an extremely broad interpretation of its authorizing statute, to deny Mr. Simon his right to continue his employment at any time that it may deign to act. The Circuit Court of Tunica County found that such a move was both arbitrary and capricious, and this Court should affirm that conclusion.

In 1997, the Gaming Commission legally and correctly denied Mr. Simon renewal of his gaming badge due to his being in the constructive custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections [Record Excerpts 68-69]. It was well aware, at that time, of his legal issues in the Circuit Court of DeSoto County and, in fact, informed him that he would not be eligible to renew his gaming license "until he is release by the Court" [R.E. 69]. The Commission did not produce any evidence of Mr. Simon's plea (or his guilt), except his own admission to same on the Commission's application, yet it made specific mention that

his guilty plea was "not accepted by the court, i.e. there will be no conviction of a crime" Id.

In 1998, Mr. Simon, free of any criminal record and not adjudged "guilty" by any court, submitted another application to the Commission which was unanimously granted, with their full knowledge of his background (Indeed, in light of his background, the local gaming official actually requested and received a unanimous decision of the Commissioners. See Record Excerpts, p. 41). The Attorney General acknowledges in its own brief that this was "for reasons unknown." Likewise, "for reasons unknown," the Commission renewed your Appellee's license in 2000 and in 2003, but then "for [other] reasons unknown," it chose not to do so in 2006. Taking the same facts and evidence, about the same person, on the same application, and yet rendering a different decision is the very definition of arbitrary and capricious.

The Appellant has attempted to confuse the issue in its brief by arguing that it is merely following statutory law or rectifying a mistake. However, it has offered no proof, reasoning, or argument as to why it chose to do this in 2006, rather than in 2000, or 2003, or for that matter,

2012. The arbitrariness and capriciousness of the Commission's decision was in their *timing*.

The Commission further seeks to cloud the issue in this appeal by arguing, at length (ten pages), its purported authority to deny a gaming badge based on "any evidence," a question which is not even *at issue* before this Court. While your Appellee would relish the opportunity to argue this rather absurd notion, this brief will follow the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure and relegate itself strictly to the single issue at bar, namely, the arbitrariness and capriciousness of the Gaming Commission's timing in denying Mr. Simon's gaming badge in 2006.

## ARGUMENT

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Your Appellee makes no argument against the strict standard which governs the review of administrative agency decisions, and those of the Mississippi Gaming Commission in particular. In *Pennebaker*, the Court made it clear that it will generally uphold Commission decisions which are supported by "any evidence" *Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Pennebaker*, 824 So.2d 552 (Miss. 2002). While this may seem, on its face, to be clear and unambiguous language, the Court must first consider the repercussions of assigning to those words their broadest meaning.

By common usage, "any evidence" would certainly include:

**hearsay** (the statute does not say "any *admissible* evidence)

**gossip** (it doesn't read "any *credible* evidence")

**admissions not chargeable** ("I once tried cocaine in college")

**crimes inferred by remedial measures** (a bad check reimbursed in cash the following day)

**crimes for which the applicant was arrested or indicted but which were later dropped for lack of evidence or "nolle prossed"** (the applicant never even had a chance to have his day in court)

This Court has stated that

when a statute is ambiguous and subject to multiple interpretations, courts need to understand the possible effects in order not to interpret the statute in such a way as to cause absurd results. *Sheffield v. Reece*, 28 So.2d 745 (Miss. 1947).

A decade later, the Court further stated, in its rule for construing statutes, that "courts should not convict the legislature of unaccountable capriciousness" *Kellum v. Johnson*, 115 So.2d 147 (Miss. 1959).

Should this court allow the Mississippi Gaming Commission to take the language "any evidence" and use it as a *carte blanche* to justify essentially any decision at any time for any reason, the results will inevitably devolve to the absurd, and any attempt to deviate back to rationality will then itself become arbitrary and capricious. The Court should place upon the Commission some level of reasonableness and reliability for its decisions, at least requiring it to proffer an excuse better than "for reasons unknown." The very credibility of the gaming industry in Mississippi is at stake.

Nevertheless, "for reasons unknown" is the equivalent of no reason at all, which is perhaps the only burden of proof below "any evidence."

**THE SINGLE ISSUE ON APPEAL: WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION'S DENIAL OF EDWARD SIMON'S WORK PERMIT WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS**

The lower court found that

When the Commission became aware of [Simon's] charge in 1997, it made the decision to suspend [Simon's] work permit until such time as he was released from probation. Once [Simon] had successfully completed his probation and had the charges against him dismissed, the Commission again made the decision to reinstate his work permit and again renew it in 2002.

This is not a case where the Commission is claiming that it only recently discovered [Simon's] run-in with the law; the Commission had all the pertinent facts before it in 1997 when it chose to take the its (sic) disciplinary action. It had the opportunity to then deny [Simon's] work permit unequivocally. It chose not to. Once [Simon] finished his probationary period and reapplied for his work permit, the Commission again had the discretion to deny his request. It chose not to. In 2002 when [Simon's] work permit came up for renewal, the Commission again had the discretion to deny his request. It chose not to. [Circuit Record 54-55].

The Commission, while in the Circuit Court of Tunica County, had the opportunity to explain to the Court why it had thrice issued a gaming badge to Ed Simon, only to deny it a decade later. It chose not to. The Commission, arguably, had a second chance to explain to this Court why

it chose to deny a 15-year employee his livelihood over a crime which occurred in the first *two* years of his career. Again, it chose not to.

The Commission's silence as to the reasoning behind its late decision (or more precisely, its explanation of "for reasons unknown") should be deemed *per se* arbitrary and capricious. "If an administrative agency's decision is not based on substantial evidence [or in this case any evidence], it necessarily follows that the decision is arbitrary and capricious" *Public Employees Retirement System v. Marquez*, 774 So.2d 421, 430, [bracketed comments added].

Finally, the Commission's arbitrary denial of Mr. Simon's work permit, after thirteen years on the job and a decade after having had his charge dismissed, opens the door to far more unsavory dealings than those likely to be committed by a man with a dismissed marijuana charge. With the sheer number of gaming inspectors statewide, the low salaries paid them, and the near total discretion they have in investigating thousands of gaming permittees, the potential would exist for widespread graft. A corrupt gaming inspector could literally extort thousands of dollars from applicants, all the while threatening to

expose a "overlooked" crime if the applicant didn't cooperate. As there is a total absence of explanation from the Commission as to how the events transpired in Mr. Simon's case, we are left to wonder whether it was oversight, ineptitude, dishonesty, personnel changes, policy changes, or a change in statutory interpretation which brought about the Commission's actions. Given that uncertainty, and the Commission's failure to proffer any explanation, this Court should affirm the finding of the Circuit Court of Tunica County that their most recent action was arbitrary and capricious.

## CONCLUSION

In its brief to this Court, the Mississippi Gaming Commission has argued its case as if it had denied Ed Simon a gaming badge in 1997, utilizing a court record of his guilty plea to a felony marijuana charge. It neither denied his work permit for that reason nor using that evidence. Moreover, the lower court did not find that that would have been arbitrary and capricious if it had. It appears that the Commission wishes to use this case before the Court to argue an issue which is not on appeal, and it thereby hopes to set a precedent to broaden its power and discretion. It is your Appellee's prayer that the Court will not do so.

This brief has imagined some of the absurd scenarios which could result should the Court give the Commission the power, unfettered by guidelines of credibility, admissibility, reason, or substantiation, to make any decision, reverse any decision, grant any application, or deny any request at any time for any reason or "for reasons unknown." Any just cannot simply mean any. It must have some parameters, some limits short of the absolute. Such an undefined power is overbroad, and American courts have limited government power due to overbreadth since the

founding of the Republic. It is incumbent upon the Court to extend the meaning of a statute beyond its precise words "when necessary to prevent the law from becoming a nullity" *Evans, et al v. Boyle Flying Service*, 680 So.2d 821 (Miss. 1996).

While this brief has purposefully refrained from an attack on the Constitutionality of such a vague and overbroad authorizing statute due to the limited scope of the issue under appeal, your Appellee would respectfully ask this Court to remember its words from *Ziegler v. Ziegler*, "Unthought of results must be avoided if possible, especially if injustice follows, and unwise purpose must not be imputed to the Legislature when a reasonable construction is possible" *Ziegler v. Ziegler*, 174 So.2d 768.

Moreover, the Court's decision in this case could have far-reaching implications for gaming in Mississippi. Affirming the decision of the Circuit Court of Tunica County would merely serve to right one injustice to one man. Reversing the lower court would set a precedent which would grant the Gaming Commission unbridled power over individual Mississippians with no safeguards of due process, rules of evidence, or security in their chosen

vocations. "In construing a statute of doubtful meaning, the consequences of any particular construction should be considered, whether they be good or bad" *L.H. Conrad Furniture Company v. Mississippi State Tax Commission*, 133 So. 652 (Miss. 1931).

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Edward Simon hereby requests this Honorable Court to affirm the Order of the Circuit Court of Tunica County.